
1

NOTICE OF MEETING
PLANNING COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY, 11 MARCH 2020 AT 1.00 PM

THE EXECUTIVE MEETING ROOM - THIRD FLOOR,  THE GUILDHALL

Telephone enquiries to Joanne Wildsmith, Democratic Services Tel: 9283 4057 (not for deputation 
requests)   Email: Democratic@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

If any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting has access requirements, please 
notify the contact named above.

Planning Committee Members:

Councillors Hugh Mason (Chair), Judith Smyth (Vice-Chair), Matthew Atkins, Steve Pitt, 
Lee Hunt, Donna Jones, Terry Norton, Luke Stubbs, Claire Udy and Gerald Vernon-
Jackson CBE

Standing Deputies

Councillors Chris Attwell, George Fielding, Jo Hooper, Suzy Horton, Frank Jonas BEM, 
Gemma New, Robert New, Scott Payter-Harris, Lynne Stagg, Rob Wood and Tom Wood

(NB This agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Representations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is going 
to be taken.  The request needs to be made in writing to the relevant officer by 12 noon of the 
working day before the meeting, and must include the purpose of the representation (e.g. for or 
against the recommendations).  Email requests to planning.reps@portsmouthcc.gov.uk  or 
telephone a member of the Technical Validation Team on 023 9283 4826.

A G E N D A

1  Apologies 

2  Declaration of Members' Interests 

3  Minutes of Previous Meeting - 19 February 2020 (Pages 3 - 14)

RECOMMENDED that the Minutes of the Planning Committee held on 19 

Public Document Pack

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/
mailto:planning.reps@portsmouthcc.gov.uk


2

February 2020 be approved as a correct record to be signed by the 
Chair.

4  Update on previous applications 

Planning Applications

5  19/00798/FUL -  42 Festing Grove, Southsea PO4 9QD  - Change of use 
from house in multiple occupation (Class C4) to a 7 bedroom house in 
multiple occupation (Sui Generis) (report item 1) (Pages 15 - 52)

6  19/01096/FUL - 48 Green Road, Southsea PO5 4DZ - Change of use from 
mixed use class C3 (dwellinghouse)/Class C4 (House in Multiple 
Occupation) to Sui Generis  (report item 2) 

7  20/00091/FUL - 130 St. Andrew's Road, Southsea PO5 1E - Change of use 
from a dwellinghouse (Class C3) or House in Multiple Occupation (Class 
C4) to 8 bedroom/8 person house in multiple occupation (Sui Generis) 
(Retrospective) (report item 3) 

8  19/01443/FUL - 73 Stubbington Avenue, Portsmouth PO2 0HZ - Change 
of use from dwellinghouse (Class C3) to purposes falling within Class C3 
(dwelling house) or C4 (House of Multiple Occupancy) (report item 4) 

9  19/01783/HOU- 3 Burcote Drive, Portsmouth PO3 5UD - Construction of 
single storey side extension (report item 5) 

Members of the public are permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social media 
during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting nor records those 
stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at 
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the 
meeting's venue.

Whilst every effort will be made to webcast this meeting, should technical or other difficulties 
occur, the meeting will continue without being webcast via the Council's website.

This meeting is webcast (videoed), viewable via the Council's livestream account at 
https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785  

https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785


 
 

 
1 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 19 
February 2020 at 1.00 pm in The Executive Meeting Room - Third Floor, The 
Guildhall 
 
These minutes should be read in conjunction with the agenda and associated papers 
for the meeting.  
 

Present 
 

 Councillors  Hugh Mason (Chair) 
Judith Smyth (Vice-Chair) 
Matthew Atkins 
Steve Pitt 
Luke Stubbs 
Claire Udy 
Gerald Vernon-Jackson CBE 
 

Also in attendance 
 

Councillors Dave Ashmore and Matthew Winnington 
 
Welcome 
 
The chair welcomed members of the public and members to the meeting.  
 
Guildhall, Fire Procedure 
 
The Chair explained to all present at the meeting the fire procedures including where 
to assemble and how to evacuate the building in case of a fire. 
 

9. Apologies (AI 1) 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Donna Jones and Lee Hunt.   
 

10. Declaration of Members' Interests (AI 2) 
 
Councillor Judith Smyth declared a personal and prejudicial interest in planning 
application 6 - 99 Victoria Road South as she was the applicant.  She would 
withdraw from the meeting for the discussion of this item.   
 
Councillors Steve Pitt and Gerald Vernon-Jackson declared a personal interest in 
planning application 7 - 20 Pretoria Road as this was Councillor Hunt's application 
and they know him very well.  They would leave the room for the discussion of this 
item.    
 

11. Minutes of previous meetings - 8 January 2020 (AI 3) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 8 
January 2020 be approved as a correct record to be signed by the Chair.   

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
2 

 

 
12. Update on previous applications (AI 4) 

 
Ian Maguire, Assistant Director Planning & Economic Growth said there were no 
updates.  With regard to nitrates he said there had been a small technical tweak to a 
footnote within the strategy at the request of Natural England who have now 
endorsed the strategy and officers are now continuing to issue planning permissions.   
 
 
The Chair advised he would be changing the running order slightly.  Planning 
application 3 would be heard first, followed by planning application 1 and planning 
application 8.  Applications would then revert to the scheduled running order.  The 
minutes will be kept in the original order for east of reference.   
 

13. 19/01657/FUL - Fontenoy House, Grand Parade PO1 2NF (AI 5) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report and drew members' attention to the 
supplementary matters list which reported: 
 
Waste and Recycling: 
The Council's Waste and Recycling team has been consulted and has provided the 
following comments: 
- The proposed development would require an additional 360 litre recycling bin and 
an additional 240 litre refuse bin. 
- The existing waste facilities are located against the wall within the rear courtyard, 
not under the stairs because of potential fire safety issues. Because of this no 
additional bin stores would need to be provided. 
- The proposed development would be brought into the Council's food waste trial, 
and a 140 litre food waste bin will be provided. 
 
Other relevant applications: 
A planning application has recently been received for the erection of a single storey 
2-bed dwelling on the roof of Fontenoy House under application 20/00158/FUL. This 
application seeks to address the refusal of application 18/01634/FUL, which sought 
permission for the erection of a 2-storey dwelling on the roof of the building: 
 
20/00158/FUL - Construction of mansard roof extension to form two bedroom 
apartment (Class C3) with roof terrace and alterations to existing building, including 
brickwork, render to ground floor and extension of external staircase and balconies 
(resubmission of 18/01634/FUL) - Not yet determined. 
 
18/01634/FUL - Construction of additional two stories to form one dwellinghouse 
(C3); extension to existing external fire escape; and alterations to existing building to 
include installation of replacement windows, Juliet balconies, new brickwork and 
raising parapet walls - Refused 13.09.2019. 
   
 
A deputation was made by Mr Phillips the applicant.   
 
Deputations are not minuted but can be viewed as part of the webcast of the 
meeting: 

Page 4



 
3 

 

 
https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785/Planning-19Feb2020/videos/202061646  
 
 
Members' questions 
There were no questions.   
 
Members' comments  
Members' had no concerns with this application and were happy to propose the 
officers recommendation.  Members' queried why this application had come to 
committee.  Officers explained it was because the application had received eight 
letters of objection which triggered committee referral however they were reviewing 
the scheme of delegation.   
 
 
RESOLVED 
(1)  That in the event of the need for nitrate neutrality, which is not achieved by 
the existence of the extant permission 17/00566/FUL, delegated authority was 
granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & Economic Growth to Grant 
Conditional Permission subject to satisfactory completion of a Legal 
Agreement to secure the following:  
- SPA Nitrate mitigation  
 
(2) Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & 
Economic Growth to add/amend/substitute conditions where necessary, 
including for the possibility that extra standard conditions are required to 
prevent the occupation of the development until achieving nitrate neutrality, 
and to restrict the time implementation (condition) limit to one year, given the 
limited availability of Council mitigation 'credits'.  
 
(3) Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & 
Economic Growth to refuse planning permission if a Legal Agreement has not 
been satisfactorily completed within three months of the date of this 
resolution, if such a legal agreement is required (see Recommendation 1). 
 

14. 19/00798/FUL - 42 Festing Grove, Southsea PO4 9QD (AI 6) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report and drew members' attention to the 
supplementary matters list which reported: 
 

 Following publication of the Committee Report, an additional HMO has been 
noted within a 50m radius of the application site, at No.54 Festing Grove.  
This brings the total percentage of HMOs within the area to 6.5%, which is still 
below the 10% threshold. 

 

 In terms of local amenity, given the low concentration of HMOs within the area 
as a whole and mindful of the fact that the property is already in use as a 6 
person HMO, it is still not considered that the proposal would result in a 
demonstrably higher level of harm to amenity in the surrounding area. 
 

Page 5

https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785/Planning-19Feb2020/videos/202061646


 
4 

 

Deputations were heard from Mr Julian Thomas, objector; Mr Colin Sarling, Applicant 
and Councillor Matthew Winnington ward councillor.   
 
Members' questions 
In response to questions from members, officers clarified the following points: 

 With regard to the confidence of officers that the number of HMOs in the 
vicinity was correct, officers explained that they do not knock on every door in 
the area.  Validation of records had been completed and officers were 
confident that there were no other HMOs in the area and it was well below the 
10% threshold.   

 The council's policy is to create mixed and balanced communities so this 
could be a range of housing, including HMOs.   

 All of the points raised in the representations are material considerations but it 
is how the committee weighs each of these. It was the officer's opinion that 
none of the areas raised by residents were grounds for a reason to refuse the 
application.   

 As the council has a specific piece of recently adopted guidance, and officers 
can identify no specific other harm caused by the scheme, officers cannot see 
a defensible reason how they could sustain a refusal in the event of an 
appeal.   

 
 
Members' comments 
Members' felt that additional clarification was required regarding the number of 
HMOs in the area.   
 
 
RESOLVED  
That the application be deferred for further checking of HMO numbers in the 
area.   
 
 
 

15. 19/01368/FUL - North Portsea Island Phase 4B, Coastline between Milton 
Common and Kendalls Whard, Eastern Road (AI 7) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report.   
 
A deputation was made by Caroline Timlett on behalf of the Eastern Solent Coastal 
Partnership and Portsmouth City Council who were the applicants.   
 
Members' questions 
In response to questions from members officers and Ms Timlett clarified the following 
points.   

 The wall would be increased by 1.2m. 

 The view for the residents living in the caravan park will change but this is not 
a material planning consideration. The applicant is considering installing 
glazed panels as part of the wall.  The exact nature of the fortified glass would 
need to be covered by a planning condition.   

Page 6



 
5 

 

 The coastal footpath can be used by cyclists.  Officers suggested it would be 
more appropriate for leisure cyclists rather than commuters.  This would be 
2.2m along the whole stretch of the path.   

 The path would be made from self-compacting aggregate similar to that at 
Milton Common and Anchorage Park which is wearing quite well.   

 
 
Members' comments  
There were no comments.   
 
 
RESOLVED that Planning permission be granted as per the recommendation in 
the Planning Officer's report and subject to the conditions set out in the 
Planning Officer's Committee report. 
 

16. 19/01258/FUL - 186 Northern Parade PO2 9LU (AI 8) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report and drew members' attention to the 
supplementary matters list which reported: 
 
The applicant submitted a Nitrate Statement, which commented that the proposed 
development was unlikely to result in an increase in nitrate output compared to the 
existing dwelling, when taking account of the potential occupancy levels of the 
existing dwelling and its poor level of water efficiency.  However, upon review of the 
submitted details, it was not considered that sufficient evidence had been provided to 
reach this conclusion.  It has therefore been agreed that the applicants will purchase 
'credits' in accordance with the Council's Nitrate Strategy to mitigate the impact of 
the development on the SPA.  An Appropriate Assessment has been submitted to 
Natural England and a response is awaited.  
   
 
Members' questions 
In response to questions from members planning officers clarified the following 
points.   

 There is some on street parking and some spaces for cars in St Francis 
Court.  Coronation Homes have stated that only half of their residents own 
cars.   

 The matter of whether car parking would be available at the church overnight 
was not a matter that was indicated in the application.  This would need to be 
agreed with the landowner.   

 
 
Members' comments  
Members welcomed this application as there are very few bungalows in the city 
which are needed with an ageing population.   
 
RESOLVED  
 
(1) Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & 
Economic Growth to Grant Conditional Permission subject to satisfactory 
completion of a Legal Agreement to secure the following:  

Page 7



 
6 

 

- SPA Nitrate mitigation (if required)  

- SPA recreational impact mitigation  
 
(2) Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & 
Economic Growth to add/amend conditions where necessary, and;  
 
(3)  Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & 
Economic Growth to refuse planning permission if a Legal Agreement has not 
been satisfactorily completed within three months of the date of this 
resolution. 
 

17. 19/01541/FUL - Land Rear of 233 Goldsmith Avenue, PO4 0BS (AI 9) 
 
(Councillor Pitt was making a deputation on this item and after making his deputation 
left the meeting) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report.   
 
Deputations were heard from Trevor Byng, objecting to the application, Matthew 
Williams on behalf of the applicant and Councillor Steve Pitt as ward councillor 
objecting to the application.   
 
 
Members' questions 
In response to questions from members, officers clarified the following: 

 It was the officers understanding that rubbish collection vehicles would access 
the site through the car park through the main development.  

 The waste management team had raised no objections to the proposal.  
There was a condition for the full details of the bin and cycle storage to be 
submitted to the council.   

 Condition 9 would allow officers to consider an alternative location for the bin 
stores.   

 Some of the parking spaces on the existing development were allocated but 
this was not something that the council could enforce.   

 There are two bin stores and two cycle stores proposed for the site.   

 This piece of land only became available last year which is why it was not 
included in the main development.   

 In terms of security the site frontage could be secured by railings and a 
pedestrian gate (with lock), to be achieved by condition.   

 The noise report referred to in one of the deputations took place on 2 and 3 
January.  It was found that the main noise would be from the road and  the 
proposed flats would not cause a restriction on the existing businesses.  The 
objections were relayed to the environmental health officer and if they were 
not happy they would have asked for another noise survey to be completed.   

 The planning officer was not aware that there was a fire exit from the adjacent 
food outlet that would be affected by the proposed development. Officers said 
this was likely to be a private matter between the food outlet and the applicant 
and could be dealt with through condition.       

 With regard to the brick wall that would face properties to the south of the 
application site, this was proposed to be 6.2m in height.    

Page 8



 
7 

 

 
 
 
Members' comments 
Members raised concerns about the entrance to the site being directly opposite the 
pedestrian crossing on Goldsmith Avenue and cyclists and pedestrians in particular 
being at risk.  Members felt that delivery vehicles would park on the main road to 
deliver items into the development causing traffic congestion.  There were also crime 
and safety concerns raised due to the layout of the site.  It was felt that the 
development would have a detrimental effect on the local businesses in the area.   
Members considered the scale, design and distance of the southern flank wall would 
adversely affect existing residents to the south. Concern was also raised that this 
was a piecemeal development Members acknowledged however that the city was in 
need of affordable housing.   
 
 
RESOLVED that the application be refused for the following reasons:  
1. The proposed development would require access via a narrow pathway 
between two buildings, with the result that it would encourage crime and anti-
social behaviour, impacting on the security of existing and proposed 
residents.  The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy PCS23 of the 
Portsmouth Plan and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, which require development to consider how to reduce crime 
through design. 
 
2. The proposed development would, due to its backland location, lack of 
vehicle access and location of refuse storage facilities, encourage vehicles to 
stop on a main road adjacent to a pedestrian crossing, creating conflict with 
users of the highway and leading to highway and pedestrian safety concerns.  
The development is therefore contrary to Policy PCS17 of the Portsmouth Plan 
and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
3. The proposed development would represent poor design due to the 
provision of a blank elevation facing south towards the neighbouring 
properties in Orchard Road, creating a poor outlook for existing residents, 
contrary to Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan and the aims and objectives 
of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

18. 19/00377/HOU - 99 Victoria Road South PO5 2BU (AI 10) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report.   
 
Members' questions 
In response to questions officers clarified the following: 

 It was proposed that the replacement tree be a Rowan or similar.  Condition 3 
controls the full details.   

 It was likely that it would be a younger tree as it would take better to the new 
conditions compared to an older species.  Members requested officers to 
ensure that the tree was as mature a species as the arboricultural officer finds 
acceptable.  
 

Page 9



 
8 

 

 
Members' comments  
There were no further comments.  
 
RESOLVED  
Planning permission was granted subject to the conditions set out in the 
Planning Officer's Committee report. 
 

19. 19/01637-CPL - 20 Pretoria Road, Southsea PO4 9BB (AI 11) 
 
(Councillors Pitt and Vernon-Jackson withdrew from the meeting due to their earlier 
declared interest).  Following advice given by the legal advisor at the meeting, 
Councillor Hugh Mason advised the committee he did not feel he needed to declare 
an interest and withdraw from the meeting.  Although he was a member of the same 
political party as the applicant (Councillor Hunt) he would be open and fair minded to 
the application.   
 
The planning officer introduced the report.    
 
Members' questions 
There were no questions. 
 
Members' comments 
Members were reassured that there is compliance with the relevant criteria and were 
happy to propose the officers recommendation.   
 
 
RESOLVED that the lawful development certificate was granted.  
 
 
 

20. 19/00633/FUL - Connaught Arms, 119 Guildford Road PO1 5EA (AI 12) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report.   
 
A deputation in support of the application was heard from Councillor Dave Ashmore 
as ward councillor.   
 
Members' questions 
In response to a question regarding parking permits in this area, Councillor Vernon-
Jackson said from memory he thought that there were more permits issued than 
spaces available.   
 
 
Members' comments  
Members were pleased that the applicant had listened to the views of residents who 
wanted housing on this site instead of retail.  It was also felt that this would provide 
much needed housing in this area.   
 
RESOLVED  
 

Page 10



 
9 

 

(1) Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & 
Economic Growth to Grant Conditional Permission subject to satisfactory 
completion of a Legal Agreement to secure the following:  
- SPA Nitrate mitigation  
- SPA recreational impact mitigation  
 
(2)  Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & 
Economic Growth to add/amend conditions where necessary, and;  
 
(3) Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director of Planning & 
Economic Growth to refuse planning permission if a Legal Agreement has not 
been satisfactorily completed within three months of the date of this 
resolution. 
 

21. 19/00354/FUL - 69 Wadham Road PO2 9ED (AI 13) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report.   
 
There were no deputations.   
 
Members' questions 
In response to questions officers clarified that the photo of the front of the property 
was an old photo which is why there was no black bin in the forecourt.   
 
Members' comments  
Members commented that this was not an area with a large concentration of HMOs 
and therefore proposed the officers recommendation.   
 
 
RESOLVED  
 

(1)  Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director Planning 
& Economic Growth to grant Conditional Permission subject to the 
satisfactory completion of a Legal Agreement to secure the 
development as Nutrient-Neutral. 

(2) Delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director Planning 
& Economic Growth to add/amend conditions where necessary, and 

(3) Delegated authority was granted to the Assistant Director Planning & 
Economic Growth to refuse planning permission if a Legal Agreement 
to secure the development as Nutrient-Neutral, pursuant to 
Recommendation I has not been satisfactorily completed within four 
months of the date of this resolution. 

 

 
 

22. 19/00013/FUL - 32 Montgomerie Road PO5 1ED (AI 14) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report.   
 
A deputation objecting to the application was heard from Mr Martin Willoughby of the 
East St Thomas Residents Forum.   

Page 11



 
10 

 

 
Members' questions 
In response to questions from members, officers clarified the following: 

 For a HMO with 6-10 people there is a requirement for two separate 
bathrooms and two separate WCs, one of the WCs can be within one of the 
bathrooms.  This property does meet this required standard.   

 This property has one of every kitchen appliance and one kitchen sink. 

 Clarification was given on the existing floorplans and the proposed floor plans.  
A bathroom had been moved to create an additional bedroom within the 
roofspace.    

 Bedroom 3 has a pitched roof.  The 9m2 is taken from the area with a ceiling 
height above 1.5m indicated up until the dotted line on the plan.  The 
additional space beyond the dotted line on the plans can be used for storage.    

 The Council introduced new SPD in October 2019 which reduced the 
minimum size standards of a single room but increased the minimum size of a 
communal area. 

  Bedroom 3 would have two rooflights, this is considered sufficient for a 
bedroom.   

 Officers drew members' attention to the penultimate paragraph of page 112 of 
the report - the Standards for HMO guidance document states that in cases 
where bedrooms achieve a size of 10m2 or larger, the communal living area 
expectations can be lowered to 22.5m2.  The living space for this property is 
25m2.  The utility room provides a communal function.   

 Most of the bedrooms are over the required size standard, there was just one 
that was under.  

 
 
Members' comments  
Members felt that the over provision of bedroom space does not mitigate the shortfall 
in combined living space.  Members also felt that this was very small and inadequate 
accommodation for the proposed number of occupants.  The kitchen in particular 
was extremely narrow for the proposed number of occupants.  Concern was also 
raised over the size of bedroom 3.  Other HMOs of this size have been of 
substantially better quality.  The chair said that the standards for HMO document 
2018 gives two sets of standards. He wished to make an additional recommendation 
that the SPD is brought in line with HMO licensing document in terms of room 
heights.    
 
 
RESOLVED  

(1) that the application be refused for the following reason: 
 
"The change of use of the property, by reason of the under provision of 
communal living space and restricted ceiling height of the second floor front 
bedroom, would fail to provide a good standard of living accommodation for 
the occupiers and represent an over intensive use of the site. The proposal is 
therefore contrary to Core Planning Principles of the NPPF and Policy PCS23 
of the Portsmouth Plan and the Houses in Multiple Occupation Supplementary 
Planning Document (October 2019)." 
 

Page 12



 
11 

 

(2) That the committee would recommend that the standards for rooms for the 
HMO SPD are brought in line with the minimum standards set out in the 
standards for HMO September 2018 licensing document with respect to ceiling 
heights. 
 

23. 19/01209/HOU - 21 Clarendon Road PO5 2ED (AI 15) 
 
The planning officer introduced the report.  This item was deferred from the January 
meeting as concerns were raised regarding the design of the window proposed to 
the north elevation of the extension.   
 
A deputation was heard from Mr James Froggatt, objecting to the application.   
 
Members' questions 
In response to questions, officers clarified the following points: 

 All issues need to be weighed today along with all the issues that were raised 
when the application was considered at the January meeting.  

 The window to the west elevation would be obscured glazed.  Officers did not 
think it was necessary to have an obscured glazed window for the north 
elevation as it is sufficient distance away from the neighbouring properties.   

 There is 20m from the rear elevation of the extension to the closest property 
on Stanley Street.   

 
 
Members' comments  
Members' were concerned that this application did not enhance the conservation 
area particularly as the windows were proposed to be UPVC and felt this was not 
appropriate.  The chair advised that conservation grade UPVC windows are 
acceptable in a conservation area.  Officers clarified that a condition could be added 
that the finer details of the window are submitted to officers to ensure that a good 
quality window is installed.   
 
RESOLVED planning permission was granted subject to the conditions set out 
in the Planning Officer's Committee report and an additional condition 
regarding the design and material details of the north-facing rear window: 
 
"Prior to the installation of the proposed window to the north elevation serving the 
kitchen, details of the window specifications including materials, method of opening 
and sectional details of the frames and glazing bars shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The windows shall thereafter be 
installed in accordance with the approved details 
 
Reason: In the interest of preserving the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area, in accordance with Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan 
(2012)." 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 6.15 pm. 
 
 
 

Page 13



 
12 

 

 
 

  

Signed by the Chair of the meeting 
Councillor Hugh Mason 

 

 

Page 14



1 

 

 
 

   

  

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

11 MARCH 2020 
 

1 PM EXECUTIVE MEETING ROOM,  
3RD

 FLOOR, GUILDHALL 
 

 

   
 REPORT BY THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - PLANNING AND 

ECONOMIC GROWTH ON PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

 

   
 ADVERTISING AND THE CONSIDERATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

All applications have been included in the Weekly List of Applications, which is sent to City 
Councillors, Local Libraries, Citizen Advice Bureaux, Residents Associations, etc, and is 
available on request. All applications are subject to the City Councils neighbour notification 
and Deputation Schemes. 
Applications, which need to be advertised under various statutory provisions, have also 
been advertised in the Public Notices Section of The News and site notices have been 
displayed. Each application has been considered against the provision of the Development 
Plan and due regard has been paid to their implications of crime and disorder. The 
individual report/schedule item highlights those matters that are considered relevant to the 
determination of the application 

 

   
 REPORTING OF CONSULTATIONS 

The observations of Consultees (including Amenity Bodies) will be included in the report 
by the Assistant Director - Planning and Economic Growth if they have been received when 
the report is prepared. However, unless there are special circumstances their comments 
will only be reported VERBALLY if objections are raised to the proposals under 
consideration 

 

   
 APPLICATION DATES 

The two dates shown at the top of each report schedule item are the applications 
registration date- ‘RD’ and the last date for determination (8 week date - ‘LDD’)  

 

   
 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 

The Human Rights Act 1998 requires that the Local Planning Authority to act consistently 
within the European Convention on Human Rights. Of particular relevant to the planning 
decisions are Article 1 of the First Protocol- The right of the Enjoyment of Property, and 
Article 8- The Right for Respect for Home, Privacy and Family Life. Whilst these rights are 
not unlimited, any interference with them must be sanctioned by law and go no further than 
necessary. In taking planning decisions, private interests must be weighed against the 
wider public interest and against any competing private interests Planning Officers have 
taken these considerations into account when making their recommendations and 
Members must equally have regard to Human Rights issues in determining planning 
applications and deciding whether to take enforcement action. 
  

 

 Web: http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk  
   

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



2 

 

INDEX 
 
Item No Application No Address Page 

 

 

 
04 19/01443/FUL 73 Stubbington Avenue,PO2 0HZ PAGE 29 

 
05 19/01783/HOU 3 Burcote Drive, PO3 5UD PAGE 35 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

01 19/00798/FUL 42 Festing Grove, PO4 9QD PAGE 3 

02 19/01096/FUL 48 Green Road,PO5 4DZ PAGE 12 

03 20/00091/FUL  130 St Andrews Road, PO5 1EX PAGE 21 

Page 16



3 

 

 

01     

 
19/00798/FUL      WARD: EASTNEY & CRANESWATER 
 
42 FESTING GROVE SOUTHSEA PO4 9QD  
 
CHANGE OF USE FROM HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (CLASS C4) TO A 7 
BEDROOM HOUSE IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION (SUI GENERIS). 
 
Application Submitted By: 
Mr Colin Sarling 
 
On behalf of: 
Mr Colin Sarling  
CBS Property Ltd  
 
RDD:    17th May 2019 
LDD:    24th July 2019 
 
REPORT BACK 
 
This application was brought to the Planning Committee for determination on the 19th February, 
2020. The Committee raised concerns regarding the HMO data for the area and requested that 
it was further examined to ensure its accuracy.  
 
As requested the Planning Officer has conducted further investigation into the surrounding area. 
This included visiting the properties within area, knocking on the doors of any suspected HMOs 
and enquiring with the occupants. Any suspected properties, which did not answer have been 
examined though council tax records, planning records and licencing. No additional HMOs 
where uncovered during this research and the Officer is fully confident of the HMO data for the 
area. 
 
Besides the property previously mentioned within Supplementary Matters at the last Planning 
Committee. There are no additional HMOs identified within the area, since the previous 
Committee report. The total number of HMOs in the area being 4 and the total percentage within 
50m is therefore 6.5%. 
 
Following the further research the officer's recommendation is conditional permission and the 
conditions previously proposed have not been amended. The officer's original report which was 
published for the 19th February 2020 planning committee meeting can be read below:   
 
SUMMARY OF MAIN ISSUES  
 
This application is brought to the Planning Committee as the combined living space is below the 
size set out within the Houses in Multiple Occupation - Supplementary Planning Document 
(October 2019), and due to neighbour objections. 
 
The main issues for consideration relate to: 
 

 The Principle of Development; 

 The standard of accommodation; 

 Parking; 

 Waste 

 Amenity impacts upon neighbouring residents;  

 Impact upon the Solent Special Protection Area; and  

Page 17



4 

 

 Any other raised matters. 
 
 
 
 
 
SITE, PROPOSAL AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
Site and surrounding 
 
This application relates to a two-storey terraced dwelling with rooms within the roofspace 
located to the south of Festing Grove. The property features a two-storey bay window and is set 
back from the roadway by a front forecourt. The property also has a rear access.  
 
The surrounding area is characterised by a rows of similar terrace properties and is in close 
proximity to a range of shops, services and bus routes located on Albert Road. 

 
 
Occupancy within 50m 
 
Total properties - 61 
 
HMOs - 3 
 
HMOs -  
 
Application site -  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Proposal 
 
Planning permission is sought for a change of use from Class C4 (house in multiple occupation) 
to a 7 bedroom, Sui Generis (Large house in multiple occupation). 
 
The description of development states that the dwelling is already an existing HMO (Class C4). 
There is no planning history to indicate this however the applicant has submitted evidence in the 
form of Council Tax Records to demonstrate the property's existing use as a C4 HMO.  For 
practicality purposes it is considered that there is sufficient evidence that dwelling has a lawful 
use as a Class C4 (HMO).  
 
The internal accommodation would comprise the following: 
 
Ground floor - Two bedrooms (one featuring an ensuite), a kitchen, a dining room and an 
outside WC; 
First floor - Three bedrooms (each with their own ensuites) and a shower room; 
Second floor - Two bedrooms (each with their own ensuite) and one with a built-in closet. 
 
Planning history  
 
There is no relevant planning history associated with the application site. 

Page 18



5 

 

 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Portsmouth Plan (2012)  
   

 PCS17 (Transport)   

 PCS20 (Houses in Multiple Occupation)  

 PCS23 (Design and Conservation)     
 
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 due weight has been 
given to the relevant policies in the above plan.     
 
Other guidance:    
 

 National Planning Policy Framework (2019)  

 National Planning Practice Guidance  

 Parking Standards & Transport Assessments Supplementary Planning Document 
(2014)   

 The Technical Housing Standards - nationally described space standards (2015)   

 The Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy (2017)  

 The Interim Nutrient Neutral Mitigation Strategy (2019)  

 The Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) Supplementary Planning Document 
(2019) 

 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Private Sector Housing 
 
The City Council Private Sector Housing team advise that this property would require to be 
licenced under Part 2, Housing Act 2004. 
  
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Four representations have been received objecting to the proposed development on the 
following grounds; 
 

(a) Work already being undertaken at the site; 
(b) Noise and disturbance (increased comings and goings); 
(c) Parking - car fumes; 
(d) Noise and highways safety issues from building works; 
(e) Odour - increased waste and rubbish; 
(f) Poor upkeep of properties; 
(g) Increased demand for doctors' appointments. 

 
One neighbouring resident has requested the opportunity to make a deputation at Planning 
Committee. 
 
COMMENT 
 
The main determining issues for this application relate to the following: 
 

 The Principle of Development; 

 The standard of accommodation; 

 Parking; 

Page 19



6 

 

 Waste 

 Amenity impacts upon neighbouring residents;  

 Impact upon the Solent Special Protection Area; and  

 Any other raised matters. 
 
Principle of the use 
 
Planning permission is sought for the use of the property to a 7 bedroom/ 7 person (Sui Generis) 
House in Multiple Occupation. Policy PCS20 of the Portsmouth Plan states that applications for 
the change of use to a HMO will only be permitted where the community is not already 
imbalanced by a concentration of such uses, or where the development would not create an 
imbalance. The adopted Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD (HMO SPD) as amended in 
October 2019, sets out how Policy PCS20 will be implemented and details how the City Council 
will apply this policy to all planning applications for HMO uses.  
 
The amended HMO SPD has been published to provide a tool for addressing the recognised 
negative impacts that HMO's may have in Portsmouth, most notably in relation to the residential 
amenity and housing mix of certain communities. 
 
At paragraph 2.3, the HMO SPD document states that in situations such as this "where planning 
permission is sought for the change of use of a class C4 or mixed C3/C4 use to a HMO in Sui 
Generis use, in areas where concentration of HMOs exceed the 10% threshold, the Council will 
consider the potential harm to amenity caused by an increase in the number of bedrooms in an 
already unbalanced community." 
 
The 10% threshold contained within the HMO SPD applies to an areas within a 50m radius of an 
application site. In this instance a total 61 properties fall within this area, 3 of which are in HMO 
use (including the application site). This accounts for 4.9% of properties within a 50m radius. 
 
As the percentage of HMOs in the area does not exceed 10%, the principle of changing the use 
of the property to a 7 person, 7 bedrooms HMO (Sui Generis) is considered acceptable in 
principle.  
 
Standard of accommodation  
 
The Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD, as amended (October 2019 sets out minimum size 
standards for rooms in order to ensure that an appropriate standard of living accommodation is 
achieved. A summary of the sizes of the rooms within this property in comparison to the 
minimum standards within the SPD is set out below: 
 
In terms of internal living conditions, the property proposes the following accommodation: 
 
(HMO SPD-October 2019)   Area to be provided: Guideline standard: 
 
Bedroom 1 (Ground Floor)   18m2   6.51m2 
Ensuite B1     2.8m2   undefined 
Bedroom 2 (Ground Floor)   10.4m2  6.51m2 
Kitchen and Dining Rooms   29.1m2  34m2 
 
Bedroom 3 (First Floor)   10.7m2  6.51m2 
Ensuite B3     2.8m2   undefined 
Bedroom 4 (First Floor)   9.9m2   6.51m2 
Ensuite B4     2.8m2   undefined 
Bedroom 5 (First Floor)   17.7m2  6.51m2 
Ensuite B5     2.8m2   undefined 
Shower room (First Floor)   3.8m2   3.74m2 
 

Page 20



7 

 

Bedroom 6 (Second Floor)   14.1m2  6.51m2 
Ensuite B6     2.9m2   undefined 
Bedroom 7 (Second Floor)   18.4m2  6.51m2 
Ensuite B7     3.4m2   undefined 
 
Total:      149.6m2  83.31m2 
 
The HMO SPD (October 2019) states that large HMOs should incorporate a communal living 
area measuring a minimum of 34m2. At paragraph 2.6 the SPD states that this guidance has 
been set to reflect licencing standards provided within the Council's 'Standards for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation' guidance document (2018) (produced by the private sector housing 
department), and that this document should be referred to when assessing requirements in 
detail. 
 
The 'Standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation' guidance document goes on to state that in 
cases where bedrooms achieve a size of 10m2 or larger, the communal living area expectations 
can be lowered to 22.5m2. In this instance all of the bedrooms bar one (which is under by 
0.1m2) meet a minimum area of 10m2, it is considered that at 29.1m2 (6.6m2 over the 22.5m2 
threshold), the proposed communal living area is acceptable for the proposed number of 
occupiers. As a consequence of the large bedrooms and ensuites, the total property size far 
exceeds the standard the SPD seeks.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposal is in accordance with the requirements outlined on 
pages 8 and 9 of the HMO SPD (October 2019) and therefore is considered to provide an 
adequate standard of living accommodation to facilitate 7 persons sharing.  
 
Impact on residential amenity 
 
Appendix 5 of the amended HMO SPD identifies that 9% of all known HMOs in Portsmouth have 
received complaints with regard to issues such as waste, noise and disturbance. This is 
significantly above the 1% of complaints that are registered against all non-HMO properties. 
This highlights the importance of considering the potential amenity impacts of HMO proposals in 
all cases, and of assessing specific impacts, such as noise, traffic, privacy and general 
disturbance as described in Para 2.17 of the amended HMO SPD. 
 
In this instance, it has been established that there is not an imbalance between C3 dwellings 
and HMOs within a 50m radius of the property. Having regards to the layout of the surrounding 
HMOs, it is noted that of the limited number of HMOs within the area, only one is located within 
a short distance of the application site (No.48 Festing Grove). Examining the planning history of 
no. 48, it is noted that it has a lawful use to be occupied as a 9 bedroom HMO (15/01422/FUL). 
While this application at No.42 would therefore create two Larger HMOs in close proximity, 
given the low concentration of HMOs within the area as a whole and mindful of the fact that this 
property is already being used as a 6 person HMO, it is not considered that the proposal would 
be likely to result in a demonstrably higher level of harm to existing general levels of residential 
amenity in the area, whether from noise, additional vehicle use or any other form of nuisance / 
disturbance. 
 
In terms of potential impacts on immediate adjoining properties, whilst the accommodation of a 
single additional resident would lead to a more intensive occupation of the property, regard must 
be made to the lawful use of the property that allows occupation by six unrelated individuals or a 
family of an unrestricted size. In light of the existing situation and the fact that the proposal 
would create an additional bedroom at roof level, a change to the internal layout of the property 
which is not considered to be likely to generate unacceptable internal noise or disturbance, it is 
concluded that the proposal will not create any significant harm to the amenity of immediate 
neighbouring residents when compared to the existing situation. 
 

Page 21



8 

 

Therefore the proposal is deemed to be in accordance with the amended HMO SPD (including 
with guidance on potential impacts described in para 2.17), and Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth 
Plan (2012). 
 
Highways (Parking)   
  
There is no parking associated with the property and no proposal to provide on-site parking.     
  
The Councils Adopted Parking Standards set out a requirement for Sui Generis HMO's to 
provide space for the storage of at least 4 bicycles.  The property has a rear garden where 
secure cycle storage could be located.  This requirement could be secured by condition.      
 
Waste matters  
  
In relation to refuse requirements, the owners of the site would need to apply for communal 
waste collection.  It is considered that the waste facilities could be stored within the front or rear 
garden, and could be secured by condition.   
 
Impact on the Solent Special Protection Area (SPA) and Nitrates     
 
The application site is within 5.6 m of Portsmouth Harbour Special Protection Area (SPA) and 
will lead to a net increase in residential accommodation.     
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 [as amended] and the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 place duties on the Council to ensure that the proposed development 
would not have a significant likely effect on the interest features of the Solent Special Protection 
Areas, or otherwise affect protected habitats or species. The Portsmouth Plan's Greener 
Portsmouth policy (PCS13) sets out how the Council will ensure that the European designated 
nature conservation sites along the Solent coast will continue to be protected.     
 
There are two potential impacts resulting from this development the first being potential 
recreational disturbance around the shorelines of the harbours and the second from increased 
levels of nitrogen and phosphorus entering the Solent water environment.      
 
Wading birds:     
 
The Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy (December 2017) was adopted by Portsmouth City 
Council on 1st April 2018 and replaces the Interim Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy 
(December 2014) and the associated Solent Special Protection Areas Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) which was revoked by the City Council from 1st April 2018. The Strategy 
identifies that any development in the city which is residential in nature will result in a significant 
effect on the Special Protection Areas (SPAs) along the Solent coast. It sets out how 
development schemes can provide a mitigation package to remove this effect and enable the 
development to go forward in compliance with the Habitats Regulations. This development is not 
necessary for the management of the SPA.      
 
Based on the methodology set out within the Strategy, an appropriate scale of mitigation for this 
development is £346, which the Applicant has opted to pay through a Section 111 agreement 
prior to planning consent being issued, rather than through the s.106 legal agreement. With this 
mitigation, the LPA has concluded that the adverse effects arising from the proposal are wholly 
consistent with and inclusive of the effects detailed in the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy. 
The LPA's assessment is that the application complies with this strategy and that it can therefore 
be concluded that there will be no adverse effects on the integrity of the designated sites 
identified above. The requirement for a payment to secure mitigation is both directly related to 
the development and is fairly and reasonably related in scale to the development. This 
overcomes reason for refusal No.3 attached to the previous application. 
 

Page 22



9 

 

Nitrates:     
 
Natural England has provided guidance advising that increased residential development is 
resulting in higher levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input to the water environment in the 
Solent with evidence that these nutrients are causing eutrophication at internationally 
designated sites. A sub-regional strategy for the nitrates problem is being developed by the 
Partnership for South Hampshire, Natural England, and various partners and interested parties. 
In the meantime, Portsmouth wishes to avoid a backlog of development in the city, with the 
damaging effects on housing supply and the construction industry, so the Council has therefore 
developed its own interim strategy.     
 
The Council's Interim Nutrient-Neutral Mitigation Strategy expects Applicant to explore their own 
Mitigation solutions first.  These solutions could be Option 1: 'off-setting' against the existing 
land use, or extant permission, or other land controlled by the Applicant.  Or it could be Option 2: 
mitigation measures such as Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS), interception, or 
wetland creation. If, however, the Applicant sets out to the Council that they have explored these 
options but are unable to provide mitigation by way of these, they may then request the 
purchase of 'credits' from the Council's Mitigation Credit Bank. These credits are accrued by the 
Council's continuous programme of installation of water efficiencies into its own housing stock, 
and making these credits available to new development.     
 
The Council's Mitigation Strategy sets out that the credit per new unit for non-major schemes will 
be charged at £200. The credit costs required to mitigate against this scheme in its entirety 
would therefore amount to £200. Natural England have confirmed they have no objection to the 
approach of the Council's Interim Strategy, subject to an 'Appropriate Assessment' of the 
application, for Natural England's comment.     
 
The applicant has provided a statement which confirms they are unable to provide nitrate 
mitigation via Option 1 or 2, and so would like to provide mitigation by using the Council's 
Mitigation Credit Bank. This is accepted in this instance.  A condition is attached which prevents 
occupation of the development until the mitigation is actually provided, i.e. the credits are 
purchased. In accordance with the Strategy, the sum charged for the credit will be finalised and 
secured by way of a Section 106 legal agreement. It is also considered necessary to restrict the 
time implementation (condition) limit to one year, given the limited availability of Council 
mitigation 'credits'.     
 
Therefore, the nitrates mitigation will be provided, by way of the condition and legal agreement, 
and subject to further consultation with Natural England.  Subject to these matters, the 
development would not have a significant likely effect on the interest features of the Solent 
Special Protection Areas.     
 
Conclusion      
 
Having regards to the above matters the proposed change of use is considered to be acceptable 
and appropriate in this location, given the minimal impact the additional bedroom will have on 
community balance, amenity, living space standards, on the highway (parking) and nitrates 
levels in the Solent when compared to the current situation. It is therefore deemed to be subject 
to conditions and legal agreement, in accordance with Policies PCS17, PCS20 and PCS23 of 
the Portsmouth Plan (2012). 
 
RECOMMENDATION I - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director Planning 
& Economic Growth to grant Conditional Permission subject to the satisfactory completion of a 
Legal Agreement to secure the development as Nutrient-Neutral. 
 
RECOMMENDATION II - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director Planning 
& Economic Growth to add/amend conditions where necessary, and 
 

Page 23



10 

 

RECOMMENDATION III - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director 
Planning & Economic Growth to refuse planning permission if a Legal Agreement to secure the 
development as Nutrient-Neutral, has not been satisfactorily completed within three months of 
the date of this resolution. 
 

RECOMMENDATION  Conditional Permission 

 

Conditions 
 
 Time limit 

1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years from 
the date of this planning permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to 
prevent an accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions given the limited supply of 
Council 'credits' forming the SPA mitigation. 

 
Approved plans 

2) Unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the permission hereby granted 
shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings - Drawing 
numbers: Floor Plans; and Location Plan - 1:1250. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission 
granted. 

 
Number of occupants 

3) The premises shall only be used as a house in multiple occupation for a maximum of 7 
residents. 

 
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to assess the impact of any further 
intensification of the use on the amenity of neighbouring residents and the character of the 
area, in accordance with Policies PCS20 and PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan. 

 
Cycle storage 

4) Prior to first occupation of the property as a seven person/seven bedroom (Sui Generis) 
House in Multiple Occupation, secure and weatherproof bicycle storage facilities for 4 
bicycles shall be provided at the site and shall thereafter be retained for the parking of 
bicycles at all times unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA. 

 
Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for cyclists using the premises in 
accordance with policies PCS17 and PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan. 

 
Waste storage 

5) Prior to the first occupation of the property as a seven person/seven bedroom (Sui 
Generis) House of Multiple Occupation, two 360L refuse bins and one 360L recycling bin 
shall be provided and thereafter retained in the rear garden of the property (or such other 
waste arrangements as may be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing). 

 
Reason: In the interest of amenity, in accordance with Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan. 

 
Nitrates and potential Recreational Disturbance - Wading birds mitigation  

6) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a scheme for the 
mitigation of increased nitrogen and phosphorus levels and potential Recreational 
Disturbance - Wading birds resulting from the development has been (a) submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and (b) implemented in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 

Page 24



11 

 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
the Solent Special Protection Area in accordance with Policy PCS13 of the Portsmouth Plan, 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 [as amended] and the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 
 

PRO-ACTIVITY STATEMENT 
 
Notwithstanding that the City Council seeks to work positively and pro-actively with the applicant 
through the application process in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, in 
this instance the proposal was considered acceptable and did not therefore require any further 
engagement with the applicant. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 25



12 

 

02    

 
19/01096/FUL         WARD: ST THOMAS 
 
48 GREEN ROAD SOUTHSEA PO5 4DZ  
 
CHANGE OF USE FROM MIXED USE CLASS C3 (DWELLINGHOUSE)/CLASS C4 (HOUSE 
IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION) TO SUI GENERIS 
 
Application Submitted By: 
Thorns Young Ltd 
FAO Mrs Carianne Wells 
 
On behalf of: 
Mr James Oliver  
OMPD  
 
RDD:    16th July 2019 
LDD:    11th September 2019 
 
 
SUMMARY OF MAIN ISSUES  
 
This application is brought to the Planning Committee as the recommendation is contrary to 
elements of the Houses in Multiple Occupation - Supplementary Planning Document (October 
2019). Also, the East St Thomas's Resident Association have requested that the application be 
determined by Planning Committee. 
 
The main issues for consideration relate to: 
 

 The principle of development; 

 The standard of accommodation; 

 Parking; 

 Waste; 

 Amenity impacts upon neighbouring residents; and 

 Impact upon the Solent Special Protection Area. 
 
SITE, PROPOSAL AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
Site and surrounding  
 
This application relates to a two-storey mid-terrace dwellinghouse located on the eastern side of 
Green Road close to its intersection with Cottage Grove. The property has a small front 
forecourt currently used for the storage of bins and a moderate size yard to the rear.  
 
The surrounding area is primarily residential, though has a range of property types and 
residential uses. The property is one of a row of 9 similar two storey properties.  Two properties 
immediately to the south and one to the north are all in use as HMOs. Towards the north and 
west of the site are a number of four-storey flat blocks set back from the road by hedged front 
gardens. Further to the south is 'Homesea House' a retirement housing community, and there is 
another retirement housing community, 'Homerose House', to the east of the site. 
 
The dwelling is within close proximity to a range of shops and services located on Elm Grove. 
 

Page 26



13 

 

 
Occupancy within 50m 
 
Total properties - 75 
 
HMOs - 8 
 
Percentage - 10.6% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Proposal 
 
Planning permission is sought for the change of use from a flexible Class C3 (dwellinghouse) or 
Class C4 (House in Multiple Occupation) to a 7 bedroom/7person Sui Generis HMO (Larger 
House in Multiple Occupation).  
 
The internal accommodation would comprise the following: 
 
Basement - Cinema room; 
Ground floor - One bedroom (with its own ensuite); and a kitchen/dining room (combined living 
space);  
First floor - Three bedrooms (each with their own ensuite) and a WC; and   
Second floor - Two bedrooms (each with their own ensuite). 
 
Planning history  
 
The change of use from house in multiple occupation (Class C4) to purposes falling within Class 
C4 (house in multiple occupation) or Class C3 (dwellinghouse) was permitted in 2019 under 
planning ref: 19/00271/FUL. 
 
There is no other relevant planning history associated with the application site. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Portsmouth Plan (2012)  
   

 PCS17 (Transport)   

 PCS20 (Houses in Multiple Occupation)  

 PCS23 (Design and Conservation)     
 
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 due weight has been 
given to the relevant policies in the above plan.     
 
Other guidance:    
 

Page 27



14 

 

 National Planning Policy Framework (2019)  

 National Planning Practice Guidance 

 The Parking Standards and Transport Assessments Supplementary Planning 
Document (2014)   

 The Technical Housing Standards - nationally described space standards (2015)   

 The Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy (2017)  

 The Interim Nutrient Neutral Mitigation Strategy (2019)  

 The Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) Supplementary Planning Document 
(2019) 

  

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Private Sector Housing 
 
Based on the layout and sizes provided there are no adverse comments to be made by Private 
Sector Housing. This property would require to be licenced under Part 2, Housing Act 2004. 
  
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
One representation has been received from the East St Thomas Residents Association 
requesting the application to be heard at Planning Committee. 
 
COMMENT 
 
The main determining issues for this application relate to the following: 
 

 The principle of development; 

 The standard of accommodation; 

 Parking; 

 Waste 

 Amenity impacts upon neighbouring residents; and 

 Impact upon the Solent Special Protection Area. 
 
Principle of the use 
 
Policy PCS20 of the Portsmouth Plan states that applications for the change of use to a HMO 
will only be permitted where the community is not already imbalanced by a concentration of 
such uses, or where the development would not create an imbalance. The adopted Houses in 
Multiple Occupation SPD (HMO SPD) as amended in October 2019, sets out how Policy PCS20 
will be implemented and details how the City Council will apply this policy to all planning 
applications for HMO uses.  
 
The amended HMO SPD has been published to provide a tool for addressing the recognised 
negative impacts that HMOs may have in Portsmouth, most notably in relation to the residential 
amenity and housing mix of communities. 
 
At paragraph 2.3, the HMO SPD document states that in situations such as this "where planning 
permission is sought for the change of use of a class C4 or mixed C3/C4 use to a HMO in Sui 
Generis use, in areas where concentrations of HMOs exceed the 10% threshold, the Council will 
consider the potential harm to amenity caused by an increase in the number of bedrooms in an 
already unbalanced community." 
 
The 10% threshold contained within the HMO SPD applies to an area within a 50m radius of an 
application site. In this instance the 50m radius intercepts a number of flat blocks and 'retirement 
communities' the majority of the units in these blocks seem to be within the 50m radius, with the 
exception of 'Homesea House'. Investigating the floorplans of 'Homesea House' it appears that 

Page 28



15 

 

roughly 14 of the units should be included within the 50m radius. This reduces the number of 
properties within the area from 142 to 75, 8 of which are in HMO use. This accounts for 10.6% 
of properties within a 50m radius. These statistics reflect an appropriate balance between 
residential properties and HMO's in the wider area, only slightly in excess of the 10% threshold 
outlined within the HMO SPD.  
 
In addition to the above, it is recognised that the property is already in use as a HMO and as 
such there is no change to the overall community balance, at least in the total number of HMOs. 
However, as the change would result in a more intensive use of the property, the knock on 
amenity impacts of the additional 1 bedroom will be explored later in the report, in accordance 
with paragraphs 2.3, 2.17 and 2.18 of the SPD. 
 
With respect to the 10% threshold, though, and in accordance with previous appeal decisions, 
as there is no new HMO being introduced, there would be no further harm caused to the existing 
community imbalance. 
 
Standard of accommodation  
 
The Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD, as amended (October 2019) sets out minimum size 
standards for rooms in order to ensure that an appropriate standard of living accommodation is 
achieved. A summary of the sizes of the rooms within this property in comparison to the 
minimum standards within the SPD is set out below: 
 
In terms of internal living conditions, the property proposes the following accommodation: 
 
(HMO SPD-October 2019)   Area to be provided: Guideline standard: 
 
Cinema Room (Basement)    19.05m2  undefined 
 
Bedroom 7 (Ground floor)     9.67m2  6.51m2 
Ensuite B7 (Ground floor)    3.12m2  undefined 
Bedroom 6 (Ground floor)     10.68m2   6.51m2   
Ensuite B6 (Ground floor)    3.12m2  undefined 
Combined living space (Ground floor)  31.75m2  34m2 
 
Bedroom 5 (First floor)     11.01m2   6.51m2   
Ensuite B5 (First floor)    3.68m2  undefined 
Bedroom 4 (First floor)      8.33m2   6.51m2   
Ensuite B4 (First floor)    2.75m2  undefined 
Bedroom 3 (First floor)      15.55m2   6.51m2   
Ensuite B3 (First floor)    2.75m2  undefined 
WC (First floor)     2.06m2  undefined 
 
Bedroom 2 (Second floor - in roof)    10.06m2  6.51m2   
Ensuite B2 (Second floor)    3.6m2   undefined 
Bedroom 1 (Second floor - in roof)   13.07m2   6.51m2   
Ensuite B1 (First floor)    3.6m2   undefined 
 
Total       153.85m2  90.79m2 
 
The HMO SPD (October 2019) states that large HMOs should incorporate a communal living 
area measuring a minimum of 34m2. At paragraph 2.6 the SPD states that this guidance has 
been set to reflect licencing standards provided within the Council's 'Standards for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation' guidance document (2018) (produced by the private sector housing 
department), and that this document should be referred to when assessing requirements in 
detail. 
 

Page 29



16 

 

The proposal features a combined living space at ground floor level, with an area of 31.75m2, 
which represents an under provision of 2.25m2. It is, however, noted that the property features 
an additional communal space at basement level. While this area receives restricted light and 
outlook it is still considered to mitigate the under provision of communal space. In addition, all of 
the bedrooms are above the minimum space requirement and the majority are above the 
additional standard of 10m2 as defined within the 'Standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation' 
guidance document (2018). 
 
Concerns have been raised by the Planning Committee in relation to similar HMO applications 
about the ceiling heights of bedrooms.  In this instance this only impacts bedroom 1. When 
taking account of the floorspace with a full ceiling height of 2.3m only, the room would measure 
8.27m2, which is still above the minimum size standard.  
 
In summary, it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with the requirements outlined 
on pages 8 and 9 of the HMO SPD (October 2019) and is considered to provide an adequate 
standard of living accommodation to facilitate 7 persons sharing.  
 
Impact on residential amenity 
 
Appendix 5 of the amended HMO SPD identifies that 9% of all known HMOs in Portsmouth have 
received complaints with regard to issues such as waste, noise and disturbance. This is 
significantly above the 1% of complaints that are registered against all non-HMO properties. 
This highlights the importance of considering the potential amenity impacts of HMO proposals in 
all cases, and of assessing specific impacts, such as noise, traffic, privacy and general 
disturbance as described in Para 2.17 of the amended HMO SPD. 
 
In this instance, it has been established that there is a slight imbalance between C3 dwellings 
and HMOs within a 50m radius of the property (10.6%). Having regard to the layout of the 
surrounding HMOs, it is noted that they appear to group around the application site, with 4 
HMOs (52 Ramsay House, 50, 48 and 46 Green Road) within the terrace of 9 properties. The 
surrounding area has a more open character, when compared to other parts of the ward, and 
there is increased separation towards the buildings opposite. 
 
In determining the amenity impacts of the proposal, consideration has been given to adjacent 
dwellings, in particular the neighbouring properties of No.50 and No.46 Green Road, both of 
which are in use as HMOs and as such are not considered to be as sensitive as traditional C3 
dwellinghouses. It is acknowledged that the property backs on to a 'retirement community', 
however, closer examination shows that it mainly backs onto the car park and a side face of the 
building which features no windows. Furthermore, the buildings are also separated by a rear 
access way. 
 
Whilst the accommodation of a single additional resident would lead to a more intensive 
occupation of the property, regard must be made to the lawful use of the property that allows 
occupation by six unrelated individuals or a family of an unrestricted size. In light of the existing 
situation and the fact that the proposal would create an additional bedroom at ground floor, a 
change to the internal layout of the property which is not considered to be likely to generate 
unacceptable internal noise or disturbance, it is concluded that the proposal would not create 
any significant harm to the amenity of immediate neighbouring residents when compared to the 
existing situation. 
 
The proposal is therefore deemed to be in accordance with the amended HMO SPD (including 
with guidance on potential impacts described in para 2.17), and Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth 
Plan (2012). 
 
Highways (Parking)   
  
There is no parking associated with the property and no proposal to provide on-site parking.  

Page 30



17 

 

 
The existing use of the property is as a 6 person/6 bedroom C4 HMO, the required parking 
provision (in accordance with the Parking Standards SPD) for which is 2 spaces. The proposed 
use as a 7 person/7 person Sui Generis HMO would also has a required parking provision of 2 
spaces. Given that this requirement is unchanged, a refusal of parking standards could not be 
sustained.  
  
The Councils Adopted Parking Standards set out a requirement for Sui Generis HMO's to 
provide space for the storage of at least 4 bicycles.  The property has a rear garden where 
secure cycle storage could be located.  This requirement could be secured by condition.      
 
Waste matters  
  
In relation to refuse requirements, the owners of the site would need to apply for communal 
waste collection.  It is considered that the waste facilities could be stored within the front or rear 
garden, and could be secured by condition.   
 
Impact on the Solent Special Protection Area (SPA) and Nitrates     
 
The application site is within 5.6 m of Portsmouth Harbour Special Protection Area (SPA) and 
will lead to a net increase in residential accommodation.     
 
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 [as amended] and the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 place duties on the Council to ensure that the proposed development 
would not have a significant likely effect on the interest features of the Solent Special Protection 
Areas, or otherwise affect protected habitats or species. The Portsmouth Plan's Greener 
Portsmouth policy (PCS13) sets out how the Council will ensure that the European designated 
nature conservation sites along the Solent coast will continue to be protected.     
 
There are two potential impacts resulting from this development the first being potential 
recreational disturbance around the shorelines of the harbours and the second from increased 
levels of nitrogen and phosphorus entering the Solent water environment.      
 
Wading birds:     
 
The Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy (December 2017) was adopted by Portsmouth City 
Council on 1st April 2018 and replaces the Interim Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy 
(December 2014) and the associated Solent Special Protection Areas Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) which was revoked by the City Council from 1st April 2018. The Strategy 
identifies that any development in the city which is residential in nature will result in a significant 
effect on the Special Protection Areas (SPAs) along the Solent coast. It sets out how 
development schemes can provide a mitigation package to remove this effect and enable the 
development to go forward in compliance with the Habitats Regulations. This development is not 
necessary for the management of the SPA.      
 
Based on the methodology set out within the Strategy, an appropriate scale of mitigation for this 
development is £346, which the Applicant has provided prior planning consent being issued, 
rather than through the s.106 legal agreement. With this mitigation, the LPA has concluded that 
the adverse effects arising from the proposal are wholly consistent with and inclusive of the 
effects detailed in the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy. The LPA's assessment is that the 
application complies with this strategy and that it can therefore be concluded that there will be 
no adverse effects on the integrity of the designated sites identified above.  
Nitrates:     
 
Natural England has provided guidance advising that increased residential development is 
resulting in higher levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input to the water environment in the 
Solent with evidence that these nutrients are causing eutrophication at internationally 

Page 31



18 

 

designated sites. A sub-regional strategy for the nitrates problem is being developed by the 
Partnership for South Hampshire, Natural England, and various partners and interested parties. 
In the meantime, Portsmouth wishes to avoid a backlog of development in the city, with the 
damaging effects on housing supply and the construction industry, so the Council has therefore 
developed its own interim strategy.     
 
The Council's Interim Nutrient-Neutral Mitigation Strategy expects Applicant to explore their own 
Mitigation solutions first.  These solutions could be Option 1: 'off-setting' against the existing 
land use, or extant permission, or other land controlled by the Applicant.  Or it could be Option 2: 
mitigation measures such as Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS), interception, or 
wetland creation. If, however, the Applicant sets out to the Council that they have explored these 
options but are unable to provide mitigation by way of these, they may then request the 
purchase of 'credits' from the Council's Mitigation Credit Bank. These credits are accrued by the 
Council's continuous programme of installation of water efficiencies into its own housing stock, 
and making these credits available to new development.     
 
The Council's Mitigation Strategy sets out that the credit per new unit for non-major schemes will 
be charged at £200. The credit costs required to mitigate against this scheme in its entirety 
would therefore amount to £200. Natural England have confirmed they have no objection to the 
approach of the Council's Interim Strategy, subject to an 'Appropriate Assessment' of the 
application, for Natural England's comment.     
 
The applicant has provided a statement which confirms they are unable to provide nitrate 
mitigation via Option 1 or 2, and so would like to provide mitigation by using the Council's 
Mitigation Credit Bank. This is accepted in this instance.  A condition is attached which prevents 
occupation of the development until the mitigation is actually provided, i.e. the credits are 
purchased. In accordance with the Strategy, the sum charged for the credit will be finalised and 
secured by way of a Section 106 legal agreement. It is also considered necessary to restrict the 
time implementation (condition) limit to one year, given the limited availability of Council 
mitigation 'credits'.     
 
Therefore, the nitrates mitigation will be provided, by way of the condition and legal agreement, 
and subject to further consultation with Natural England.  Subject to these matters, the 
development would not have a significant likely effect on the interest features of the Solent 
Special Protection Areas.     
 
Conclusion      
 
Having regard to the above matters the proposed change of use is considered to be acceptable 
and appropriate in this location, given the minimal impact the additional bedroom would have on 
community balance, amenity, living space standards, on the highway (parking) and nitrates 
levels in the Solent when compared to the current situation. Subject to conditions and legal 
agreement, the application is determined to be in accordance with Policies PCS17, PCS20 and 
PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan (2012). 
 
RECOMMENDATION I - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director Planning 
& Economic Growth to grant Conditional Permission subject to the satisfactory completion of a 
Legal Agreement to secure the development as Nutrient-Neutral. 
 
RECOMMENDATION II - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director Planning 
& Economic Growth to add/amend conditions where necessary, and 
 
RECOMMENDATION III - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director 
Planning & Economic Growth to refuse planning permission if a Legal Agreement to secure the 
development as Nutrient-Neutral, has not been satisfactorily completed within three months of 
the date of this resolution. 
 

Page 32



19 

 

RECOMMENDATION  Conditional Permission 

 

Conditions 
 
 Time limit 

7) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 1 year from 
the date of this planning permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to 
prevent an accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions given the limited supply of 
Council 'credits' forming the SPA mitigation. 

 
 
 
Approved plans 

8) Unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the permission hereby granted 
shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings - Drawing 
numbers: Location Plan - 1:1250; Block Plan - 1:500; Floor Plans - PG4018.19.4; and 
Section - PG4018.19.5. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission 
granted. 

 
Number of occupants 

9) The premises shall only be used as a house in multiple occupation for a maximum of 7 
residents. 

 
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to assess the impact of any further 
intensification of the use on the amenity of neighbouring residents and the character of the 
area, in accordance with Policies PCS20 and PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan. 

 
Cycle storage 

10) Prior to first occupation of the property as a seven person/seven bedroom (Sui Generis) 
House in Multiple Occupation, secure and weatherproof bicycle storage facilities for 4 
bicycles shall be provided at the site and shall thereafter be retained for the parking of 
bicycles at all times unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA. 

 
Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for cyclists using the premises in 
accordance with policies PCS17 and PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan. 

 
Waste storage 

11) Prior to the first occupation of the property as a seven person/seven bedroom (Sui 
Generis) House of Multiple Occupation, two 360L refuse bins and one 360L recycling bin 
shall be provided and thereafter retained in the rear garden of the property (or such other 
waste arrangements as may be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing). 

 
Reason: In the interest of amenity, in accordance with Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan. 

 
Nitrates and potential Recreational Disturbance - Wading birds mitigation  

12) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a scheme for the 
mitigation of increased nitrogen and phosphorus levels and potential Recreational 
Disturbance - Wading birds resulting from the development has been (a) submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and (b) implemented in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 

 

Page 33



20 

 

Reason: To ensure that the development would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
the Solent Special Protection Area in accordance with Policy PCS13 of the Portsmouth Plan, 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 [as amended] and the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 
 

PRO-ACTIVITY STATEMENT 
 
Notwithstanding that the City Council seeks to work positively and pro-actively with the applicant 
through the application process in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, in 
this instance the proposal was considered acceptable and did not therefore require any further 
engagement with the applicant. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 34



21 

 

03     

20/00091/FUL      WARD:ST THOMAS 
 
130 ST ANDREWS ROAD SOUTHSEA PO5 1EX  
 
CHANGE OF USE FROM A DWELLINGHOUSE (CLASS C3) OR HOUSE IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPATION (CLASS C4) TO 8 BEDROOM/8 PERSON HOUSE IN MULTIPLE 
OCCUPATION (SUI GENERIS) (RETROSPECTIVE) 
 
Application Submitted By: 
Thorns Young Ltd 
FAO Mrs Carianne Wells 
 
On behalf of: 
Mr Harmer  
  
RDD:    24th January 2020 
LDD:    20th March 2020 
 
 
SUMMARY OF MAIN ISSUES  
 
This application is brought to the Planning Committee following a deputation request from the 
East St Thomas Residents Forum. 
 
The main issues for consideration are:  

 The principle of development; 

 The standard of accommodation;  

 Parking;  

 Waste  

 Amenity impacts upon neighbouring residents;   

 Impact upon the Solent Special Protection Area. 
 
SITE, PROPOSAL AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
Site and Surroundings 
 
The application site is a mid-terrace dwelling, located on the east side of St Andrews Road. 
The house originally had two bedrooms, a living room, kitchen, W.C and utility room at ground 
floor and three bedrooms, a shower room and bathroom at first floor and was granted planning 
permission in 2019 for a flexible use as either a a dwelling house (Class C3), or a HMO (C4).  
The property is currently in use as a HMO with 5 occupants.     
 
The surrounding area is characterised by densely populated residential terraces with a high 
proportion of Houses in Multiple Occupation as can be seen on the OS extract below.   
 
The site is in close proximity to a wide range of shops and services located on Albert Road and 
Elm Grove.   
 

Page 35



22 

 

 
 
Occupancy within 50m 
 
Total Properties 
 
HMOS 
 
Application site 
 
 
Proposal 
 
The application is retrospective and is for the 

change of use of the property from a mixed use as a dwelling house (C3)/ House in Multiple 
Occupation (C4) to a House in Multiple Occupation for 8 persons (sui generis). The property has 
been altered under the provisions of Schedule 2 Part 1 Classes B and C of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) to accommodate 
three bedrooms within the roof space through the addition of an L shaped dormer at the rear, 
and the insertion of a roof light into the front roof slope.  In addition, internal alterations have 
been undertaken including the removal of the wall separating the kitchen and living room and 
kitchen and utility room to create a kitchen/diner, the integration of the shower and bathroom 
and WC on the first floor and the addition of a shower room at ground floor. 
 
Planning History 
 
19/00286/FUL - Change of use from house in multiple occupation (Class C4) to purposes falling 
within Class C4 (house in multiple occupation) or Class C3 (dwellinghouse) - Permitted 
18.04.2019 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Portsmouth Plan (2012)  
   

 PCS17 (Transport)   

 PCS20 (Houses in Multiple Occupation)  

 PCS23 (Design and Conservation)     
 
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 due weight has been 
given to the relevant policies in the above plan.     
 
Other guidance:    
 

 National Planning Policy Framework (2019)  

 National Planning Practice Guidance 

 The Parking Standards and Transport Assessments Supplementary Planning 
Document (2014)   

 The Technical Housing Standards - nationally described space standards (2015)   

 The Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy (2017)  

 The Interim Nutrient Neutral Mitigation Strategy (2019)  

 The Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) Supplementary Planning Document 
(2019) 

 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Private Sector Housing 
 

Page 36



23 

 

No comments received.  
  
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Deputation request from East St Thomas Residents Forum. 
 
COMMENT 
 
The main issues for consideration are:  

 The principle of development; 

 The standard of accommodation;  

 Parking and access;  

 Waste and recycling; 

 Amenity impacts upon neighbouring residents; and  

 Impact upon the Solent Special Protection Area.  
 
Principle of the use  
 
Policy PCS20 of the Portsmouth Plan states that applications for the change of use to a HMO 
will only be permitted where the community is not already imbalanced because of a 
concentration of such uses, or where the development would not create an imbalance. The 
adopted Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD (HMO SPD), as amended in October 2019, sets 
out how Policy PCS20 will be implemented and details how the City Council will apply this policy 
to all planning applications for HMO uses. 
 
The amended HMO SPD has been published to provide a tool for addressing the recognised 
negative impacts that HMOs may have in Portsmouth, most notably in relation to the residential 
amenity and housing mix of communities. 
 
At paragraph 2.3, the HMO SPD document states that "where planning permission is sought for 
the change of use of a class C4 or mixed C3/C4 use to a HMO in Sui Generis use, in areas 
where concentration of HMOs exceed the 10% threshold, the Council will consider the potential 
harm to amenity caused by an increase in the number of bedrooms in an already unbalanced 
community."  
 
This 10% threshold contained within the HMO SPD applies to an areas within a 50m radius of 
an application site. In this instance a total of 74 properties fall within this area, 25 of which are in 
HMO use (including the application site). This accounts for 33% of properties within a 50m 
radius. There is therefore a significant imbalance between residential properties and HMO's in 
the vicinity, which exceeds the 10% threshold set out within the HMO SPD.   
  
However, the application property already has permission to be used as an HMO.  As such 
there is no change to the overall community balance, at least in the total number of HMOs. 
However, as the change would result in a more intensive use of the property, the potential 
amenity impacts of the additional 3 bedrooms will be explored later in the report, in accordance 
with paragraphs 2.3, 2.17 and 2.18 of the SPD. 
  
Standard of accommodation  
  
The Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD, as amended (October 2019), sets out minimum size 
standards for rooms in order to ensure that an appropriate standard of living accommodation is 
achieved. A summary of the sizes of the rooms within this property in comparison to the 
minimum standards within the SPD is set out below:  
   
       Area to be provided (m2):  Guideline std(m2):  
Bedroom 1 (second floor)  12.66   6.51 
Bedroom 2 (second floor)     12.00   6.51 

Page 37



24 

 

Bedroom 3 (second floor)  12.11   6.51 
Shower room (second floor)   3.18   3.4 
Bedroom 4 (first floor)   17.00   6.51 
Bedroom 5 (first floor)   12.27   6.51 
Bedroom 6 (first floor)   14.48   6.51 
Shower room (first floor)   4.05   3.4     
Bedroom 7 (ground floor)  14.59   6.51 
Bedroom 8 (ground floor)  12.21   6.51 
Shower room (ground floor)   2.75   3.4 
WC (ground floor)   1.36   not defined 
Kitchen/diner (ground floor)  25.61    34 (or 22.5 where bedrooms >10m2) 
  
Total:          169.88m2    96.28m2  
 
The HMO SPD (October 2019) states that large HMOs should incorporate a communal living 
area measuring a minimum of 34m2.  At paragraph 2.6 the SPD states that this guidance has 
been set to reflect licencing standards provided within the Council's 'Standards for Houses in 
Multiple Occupation' guidance document (2018) (produced by the private sector housing 
department), and that this document should be referred to when assessing requirements in 
detail.  This documents notes that where bedrooms achieve a size of 10m2 or larger, the size of 
the communal living area can be reduced to 22.5m2. In this case, all of the proposed bedrooms 
are more than 10m2, therefore the kitchen diner at 25.m2 is 2.5m2 larger than required and is 
considered an acceptably sized communal living area for the proposed number of occupiers.  
Moreover all of the bedrooms are significantly larger than the minimum standard. The total 
property size exceeds the standard set out in the SPD by more than 50%.   
 
The HMO SPD (October 2019) also states that for an HMO for 6-10 people, there must be 2 
separate bathrooms and 2 separate W.Cs with hand washbasins (one W.C could be contained 
within one bathroom). Three shower rooms are proposed, two of which will contain a WC.    
There is also a separate WC on the ground floor. One of the two shower rooms with a WC is 
slightly undersized at 3.14m2 and the shower room without a WC is just over 1m2 less than 
required.  However, these discrepancies are not considered to be significant having regard to 
the total number of shower/WC rooms.  As such, the sanitary arrangements provided are 
considered adequate.  
 
Concerns have been raised by the Planning Committee in relation to similar HMO applications 
about the ceiling heights of bedrooms.  In this instance this only impacts bedroom 1.  When 
taking account of the floor space with a ceiling height of 2.3 m only the room would 
measure7.05m2 which is still above the minimum size standard. 
 
The proposal therefore is considered to provide an adequate standard of living accommodation 
to facilitate 8 persons sharing.   
 
Impact on residential amenity  
 
Appendix 5 of the amended HMO SPD notes that 9% of all known HMOs in Portsmouth have 
been the subject of complaints with regard to issues such as waste, noise and disturbance 
which is significantly above the 1% of complaints that are registered against all non-HMO 
properties. This highlights the importance of considering the potential amenity impacts of HMO 
proposals in all cases, and of assessing specific impacts, such as noise, traffic, privacy and 
general disturbance as described in Para 2.17 of the amended HMO SPD.  
 
The property is already a HMO.  Therefore whilst 33% of the properties within a 50m radius are 
HMOs and many of these are concentrated in a small area clustered round the application site, 
the general character of the area will not be significantly altered by the increase in the number of 
bedrooms to eight and will not therefore result in a demonstrably higher level of harm to existing 

Page 38



25 

 

general levels of residential amenity in the area, whether from noise, additional vehicle use or 
any other form of nuisance / disturbance.  
 
In terms of potential impacts on immediate adjoining properties, whilst the proposal has resulted 
in a more intensive occupation of the property, as the new bedrooms are within the roof space 
and part of the ground would be bedrooms rather than shared communal space, the proposal 
will not generate more internal noise or disturbance and will not therefore have a significant 
impact on the amenity of adjoining residents when compared to the existing situation.  
 
Therefore the proposal is deemed to be in accordance with the amended HMO SPD (and in 
particular the guidance on potential impacts described in para 2.17), and Policies PCS20 and 
PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan (2012).  
 
 Parking and Access  
 
There is no parking associated with the property but the expected demand for the change of use 
to a sui generis HMO would be the same as for the existing C3/C4 use.  It is therefore not 
considered that an objection on lack of parking could be sustained.   
 
The Council's Adopted Parking Standards sets out a requirement for Sui Generis HMO's to 
provide space for the storage of at least 4 bicycles.  The property has a rear garden where 
secure cycle storage could be located.  This requirement could be secured by condition. 
       
Waste     
 
In relation to refuse requirements, the owners of the site would need to apply for communal 
waste collection.  It is considered that the waste facilities could be stored within the front or rear 
garden, and could be secured by condition.    
 
Impact on the Solent Special Protection Area (SPA) 
  
The application site is within 5.6 m of Portsmouth Harbour Special Protection Area (SPA) and 
will lead to a net increase in residential accommodation.  The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 [as amended] and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 place duties 
on the Council to ensure that the proposed development would not have a significant likely 
effect on the interest features of the Solent Special Protection Areas, or otherwise affect 
protected habitats or species. The Portsmouth Plan's Greener Portsmouth policy (PCS13) sets 
out how the Council will ensure that the European designated nature conservation sites along 
the Solent coast will continue to be protected.      
 
There are two potential impacts resulting from this development the first being potential 
recreational disturbance around the shorelines of the harbours and the second from increased 
levels of nitrogen and phosphorus entering the Solent water environment.  
  
Recreational Disturbance: 
     
The Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy (December 2017) was adopted by Portsmouth City 
Council on 1st April 2018 and replaces the Interim Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy 
(December 2014) and the associated Solent Special Protection Areas Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) which was revoked by the City Council from 1st April 2018. The Strategy 
identifies that any development in the city which is residential in nature will result in a significant 
effect on the Special Protection Areas (SPAs) along the Solent coast. It sets out how 
development schemes can provide a mitigation package to remove this effect and enable the 
development to go forward in compliance with the Habitats Regulations. This development is not 
necessary for the management of the SPA.       
 

Page 39



26 

 

Based on the methodology set out within the Strategy, an appropriate scale of mitigation for this 
development is £653, which the Applicant can pay through the s.106 legal agreement required 
to mitigate the impact of nitrates as set out below. With this mitigation, the LPA has concluded 
that the adverse effects arising from the proposal are wholly consistent with and inclusive of the 
effects detailed in the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy. The LPA's assessment is that the 
application complies with this strategy and that it can therefore be concluded that there will be 
no adverse effects on the integrity of the designated sites identified above. The requirement for 
a payment to secure mitigation is both directly related to the development and is fairly and 
reasonably related in scale to the development.  
 
Nitrates:      
 
Natural England has provided guidance advising that increased residential development is 
resulting in higher levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input to the water environment in the 
Solent with evidence that these nutrients are causing eutrophication at internationally 
designated sites. A sub-regional strategy for the nitrates problem is being developed by the 
Partnership for South Hampshire, Natural England, and various partners and interested parties. 
In the meantime, Portsmouth wishes to avoid a backlog of development in the city, with the 
damaging effects on housing supply and the construction industry, so the Council has therefore 
developed its own interim strategy. 
      
The Council's Interim Nutrient-Neutral Mitigation Strategy expects Applicant to explore their own 
Mitigation solutions first.  These solutions could be Option 1: 'off-setting' against the existing 
land use, or extant permission, or other land controlled by the Applicant.  Or it could be Option 2: 
mitigation measures such as Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS), interception, or 
wetland creation. If, however, the Applicant sets out to the Council that they have explored these 
options but are unable to provide mitigation by way of these, they may then request the 
purchase of 'credits' from the Council's Mitigation Credit Bank. These credits are accrued by the 
Council's continuous programme of installation of water efficiencies into its own housing stock, 
and making these credits available to new development.      
 
The Council's Mitigation Strategy sets out that the credit per new unit/ bedspace for non-major 
schemes will be charged at £200. The credit costs required to mitigate against this scheme in its 
entirety would therefore amount to£600. Natural England have confirmed they have no objection 
to the approach of the Council's Interim Strategy, subject to an 'Appropriate Assessment' of the 
application, for Natural England's comment.     
  
The applicant has provided a statement which confirms they are unable to provide nitrate 
mitigation via Option 1 or 2, and so would like to provide mitigation by using the Council's 
Mitigation Credit Bank. This is accepted in this instance.   
 
Therefore, the nitrates mitigation will be provided by way of the legal agreement, and subject to 
further consultation with Natural England.  Subject to these matters, the development would not 
have a significant likely effect on the interest features of the Solent Special Protection Areas.      
 
Conclusion       
 
Having regard to the above matters the proposed change of use is considered to be acceptable 
and appropriate in this location, given the minimal impact the additional bedrooms would have 
on community balance, amenity, living space standards, on the highway (parking) and nitrates 
levels in the Solent when compared to the current situation. Therefore, subject to conditions and 
legal agreement, the development is determined to be in accordance with Policies PCS17, 
PCS20 and PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan (2012).  
 
RECOMMENDATION I - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director Planning 
& Economic Growth to grant Conditional Permission subject to the satisfactory completion of a 

Page 40



27 

 

Legal Agreement to secure mitigation of the impact of the development on the Solent Special 
Protection Area.  
  
RECOMMENDATION II - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director Planning 
& Economic Growth to add/amend conditions where necessary, and  
  
RECOMMENDATION III - That delegated authority be granted to the Assistant Director 
Planning & Economic Growth to refuse planning permission if a Legal Agreement to secure 
mitigation of the impact of the development on the Solent Special Protection Area., has not been 
satisfactorily completed within three months of the date of this resolution.  
 
Approved plans  
1) Unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the permission hereby granted shall 
be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings - Drawing numbers: Floor 
Plan PG.4020.19; and Location Plan - 1:1250.  
  
Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission granted.  
  
Number of occupants  
2) The premises shall only be used as a house in multiple occupation for a maximum of 8 
residents.  
  
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to assess the impact of any further intensification 
of the use on the amenity of neighbouring residents and the character of the area, in accordance 
with Policies PCS20 and PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan.  
  
Cycle storage 
3) Within 3 months of the date of this permission, secure and weatherproof bicycle storage 
facilities for 4 bicycles shall be provided at the site and shall thereafter be retained for the 
parking of bicycles at all times unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA.  
  
Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for cyclists using the premises in 
accordance with policies PCS17 and PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan.  
  
Waste storage  
4) Within 3 months of the date of this permission two 360L refuse bins and one 360L recycling 
bin shall be provided and thereafter retained in the rear garden of the property (or such other 
waste arrangements as may be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing).  
  
Reason: In the interest of amenity, in accordance with Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan.  
 
Nitrates and potential Recreational Disturbance - Wading birds mitigation  
5) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied by more than 6 residents until a 
scheme for the mitigation of increased nitrogen and phosphorus levels and potential 
Recreational Disturbance - Wading birds resulting from the development has been (a) submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and (b) implemented in accordance 
with the approved scheme. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
the Solent Special Protection Area in accordance with Policy PCS13 of the Portsmouth Plan, the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 [as amended] and the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 
 
  
 
 

Page 41



28 

 

PRO-ACTIVITY STATEMENT  
  
Notwithstanding that the City Council seeks to work positively and pro-actively with the applicant 
through the application process in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, in 
this instance the proposal was considered acceptable and did not therefore require any further 
engagement with the applicant. 
 
 
NB This permission is granted in accordance with the provisions of Section 73A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, which makes provision for the retrospective granting of planning 
permission for development which has commenced and/or been completed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 42



29 

 

04     

19/01443/FUL         WARD: HILSEA 
 
73 STUBBINGTON AVENUE PORTSMOUTH PO2 0HZ  
 
CHANGE OF USE FROM DWELLINGHOUSE (CLASS C3) TO PURPOSES FALLING WITHIN 
CLASS C3 (DWELLING HOUSE) OR C4 (HOUSE OF MULTIPLE OCCUPANCY). 
 
Application Submitted By: 
Thorns Young Ltd 
FAO Mrs Carianne Wells 
 
On behalf of: 
Mr Jay Durai  
  
RDD:    20th September 2019 
LDD:    15th November 2019 
 
SUMMARY OF MAIN ISSUES  
 
This application is brought to the Planning Committee for determination due to the number of 
neighbour objections received.  
 
The main issues for consideration are:  
 

 The principle of development; 

 The standard of accommodation; 

 Parking; 

 Waste; 

 Amenity impacts upon neighbouring residents;  

 Impact upon the Solent Special Protection Area; and  

 Any other raised matters. 
 
 
SITE, PROPOSAL AND RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Site and Surrounding Area 
 
The application relates to a two-storey mid-terrace residential property located on the northern 
side of Stubbington Avenue. The building is finished in brick with a rendered bay window at both 
ground and first floor. To the frontage of the site is a forecourt bound by a low level brick wall 
and some vegetation. To the rear of the site is an existing conservatory which provides access 
to the rear garden.  
 
The surrounding area is characterised by residential properties. The properties on the north side 
of Stubbington Avenue are relatively uniform in terms of their visual appearance.  
 

Page 43



30 

 

 
Occupancy within 50m 
 
Total properties = 46 
 
HMOs = 3 
 
(Note - map shows 4, but investigations have 
revealed only 3 HMOs) 
 
Percentage = 6.5% 
 
 
 

 
Proposal  
 
Planning permission is sought for a change of use from dwellinghouse (Class C3) to purposes 
falling within Class C3 (dwellinghouse) or Class C4 (house in multiple occupation). 
 
At the date of the site visit the property was empty with some rooms in the process of 
refurbished.  
 
The internal layout comprised the following: 
 
Ground floor - One bedroom, kitchen, bathroom, dining/ lounge area and a conservatory; 
First floor - Three bedrooms and a bathroom. 
 
Planning History  
 
No planning history. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Portsmouth Plan (2012)  
   

 PCS17 (Transport)   

 PCS20 (Houses in Multiple Occupation)  

 PCS23 (Design and Conservation)     
 
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 due weight has been 
given to the relevant policies in the above plan.     
 
Other guidance:    
 

 National Planning Policy Framework (2019)  

 National Planning Practice Guidance 

 The Parking Standards and Transport Assessments Supplementary Planning 
Document (2014)   

 The Technical Housing Standards - nationally described space standards (2015)   

 The Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy (2017)  

 The Interim Nutrient Neutral Mitigation Strategy (2019)  

 The Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) Supplementary Planning Document 
(2019) 

 
 
 

Page 44



31 

 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Private Sector Housing 
 
Based on the layout and sizes provided there are no adverse comments to be made by Private 
Sector Housing. This property would not require to be licenced under Part 2, Housing Act 2004. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Five representations have been received, objecting to the proposal on the following grounds:  
 

a) Other HMOs within the area; 
b) Lack of parking provisions; and 
c) Noise disturbance. 

 
 
 
 
 
COMMENT 
 
The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are; 
 

 The principle of development; 

 The standard of accommodation; 

 Parking; 

 Waste 

 Amenity impacts upon neighbouring residents;  

 Impact upon the Solent Special Protection Area; and  

 Any other raised matters. 
 
Principle of the use 
 
Permission is sought for the flexible use of the property for purposes falling within Class C4 
(house in multiple occupation) (HMO) or Class C3 (dwellinghouse). The property currently has a 
lawful use as a dwellinghouse (Class C3). For reference, a Class C4 HMO is defined as a 
property occupied by between three and six unrelated people who share basic amenities such 
as a kitchen or bathroom. 
 
Policy PCS20 of the Portsmouth Plan states that applications for the change of use to a HMO 
will only be permitted where the community is not already imbalanced by a concentration of 
such uses, or where the development would not create an imbalance. The adopted Houses in 
Multiple Occupation SPD (as amended October 2019), sets out how Policy PCS20 will be 
implemented and details how the City Council will apply this policy to all planning applications 
for HMO uses.  The SPD states that a community will be considered to be imbalanced where 
more than 10% of residential properties within the area surrounding the application site (within a 
50m radius) are already in HMO use. 
 
Based on information held by the City Council, and following investigations and site visits to the 
identified HMOs, there are 3 confirmed HMOs within a 50m radius of the application site. Within 
this 50m radius there are 46 properties, therefore the number of HMOs equates to 6.5%. The 
addition of the proposal would result in 8.7% of properties being an HMO within the 50m radius, 
thus falling within the 10% threshold.  
 
Whilst the above HMO count is the best available data to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) and 
is updated on a regular basis, there are occasions where properties have been included or 
omitted from the database in error or have lawfully changed their use away from Class C4 

Page 45



32 

 

HMOs without requiring the express permission of the LPA.  Beyond its own data sources, no 
additional HMOs have been brought to the attention of the LPA.  
 
From objection comments it was stated that the application site had not been "a family home for 
over 15 years", and that it was occupied by "a charity business" with residents who required 
support.  Furthermore one objection notes that the application site was previously a HMO. In the 
absence of any planning history relating to the property, the current use is considered to be a C3 
dwellinghouse.  Whether or not there may have been different uses of the building in the past is 
not considered to be directly relevant to the determination of this application. 
 
A further policy strand introduced in July 2018, amended in October 2019, seeks to ensure that 
the amenity and standard of living environment of neighbours and local occupiers is protected. 
This is explained within Appendix 6 of the HMO SPD, which references the specific proximity of 
HMOs to adjacent dwellings and how these circumstances may give rise to a particular risk of 
harm to amenity and disturbance. They are where the granting of the application would result in 
three or more HMOs being adjacent to each other, or where the granting of the application 
would result in any residential property being 'sandwiched' between two HMOs. 
 

This proposed development would not result in three or more Class C4 HMO's being adjacent to 
each other nor would it result in any residential property ( Class C3 use) being 'sandwiched' 
between two HMOs.  
  
Whilst it is noted that the application would result in 2 no. HMOs being located next door to each 
other (with no. 71 Stubbington Avenue), it is still concluded that the proposed change of use 
would not result in an overall imbalance between HMO's and Class C3 dwellings in the 
prescribed area.  
 
Standard of accommodation 
 
The Houses in Multiple Occupation SPD, as amended in October 2019, sets out minimum size 
standards for rooms in order to ensure that an appropriate standard of living accommodation is 
achieved.  A summary of the sizes of the rooms within this property in comparison to the 
minimum standards within the SPD is set out below. Each of the 4 no. bedrooms wold be single 
occupancy. 
 
(HMO SPD-October 2019)   Area to be provided: Guideline standard: 
 
Bedroom (Ground floor)   15.6m2  6.51m2 
Shower room (Ground floor)   4.6m2   3.74m2 
Combined living space (Ground floor) 
(kitchen, living room, conservatory)   34.41m2  24m2 
 
Bedroom (First floor)    19.94m2  6.51m2 
Bedroom (First floor)    11.64m2  6.51m2 
Bedroom (First floor)    14.97m2  6.51m2 
Bathroom (First floor)    3.91m2  3.74m2 
 
Total      105.07m2  62.52m2 
 
The areas noted above are considered to satisfy the required size criteria and in all instances. It 
is therefore concluded that the proposal would provide a good standard of living accommodation 
for the occupiers of the property.  
 
It is therefore considered that the proposal is in accordance with the requirements outlined on 
pages 8 and 9 of the HMO SPD (October 2019). 
 
Highways (Parking) 

Page 46



33 

 

 
The City Council's Parking Standards SPD sets the level of off-road parking facilities for new 
developments within the city whereby there is a requirement of 1.5 (2) off-road spaces for a C4 
HMO. The same requirement applies to dwellinghouses with 2 or more bedrooms.    
 
The site does not benefit from off-street parking and there is no ability to provide parking on the 
site.  Given that there is no change to the parking requirement from a C3 dwellinghouse to a C4 
HMO, it is not considered that an objection on lack of parking could be sustained..  
 
In terms of cycle parking, from a site visit it was noted that there was an external store in the 
rear garden, accessible via a rear alley, which could be used to facilitate bicycles. These 
provisions are recommended to be secured via a condition, in accordance with the Parking 
Standards SPD.   
 
Waste 
 
The storage of refuse and recyclable materials would remain unchanged, being located in the 
forecourt area, and an objection on waste grounds would not form a sustainable reason for 
refusal. 
 
Impact on neighbouring living conditions 
 
The HMO SPD is supported by an assessment of the need for, and supply of, shared housing in 
Portsmouth and of the impacts of high concentrations of HMOs on local communities.  
 
It is acknowledged in Appendix 5 of the House in multiple Occupation SPD (Oct 2019) that 
HMOs often result in an increased number of neighbour complaints. The issue of noise 
disturbance has also been raised within the objections received.  
 
It is noted that there are 3 HMOs identified within the 50m radius of the site. 1 HMO is located to 
the east of Balfour Road to the north of the site, 1 next door to the site to the west, and 1 located 
to the south of Stubbington Avenue, east of the site. The HMOs are generally distributed within 
the 50m radius, however the neighbour to the west is a HMO. Despite this, it is noted that this 
would not result in a property being sandwiched nor would it be contrary to the SPD in terms of 
its distribution/ location.  
 
Whilst noise may be increased with the introduction of a further HMO in this location, it is not 
considered to result in an overconcentration of HMOs within the surrounding area, and therefore 
it is considered that the impact of one further HMO would not be significantly harmful at this 
particular point in time.   
  
Further, and considering the internal layout, it is not considered that any discernible noise and 
disturbance that would be transmitted to the neighbouring properties. 
  
Having regard to the points outlined above, it is considered there would not be a significant 
impact on residential amenity from the use of the property within Classes C3/C4.   
 
Impact on the Solent Special Protection Area (SPA) 
 
Whilst it acknowledged that there are ongoing issues around the nitrification of the Solent due to 
increased levels of runoff from residential development, this application is for the change of use 
of the property from C3 (dwellinghouse) to a flexible C3/C4 use (both uses would allow up to 6 
people), and as such it is not considered to represent an increase in overnight stays.  The 
development would therefore not have a likely significant effect on the Solent Special Protection 
Areas or result in an increased level of nitrate discharge. 
 
 

Page 47



34 

 

Conclusion  
 
Having regards to all material considerations, raised representations and planning policy, it is 
concluded that the development is acceptable in accordance with PCS17, PCS20 and PCS23 of 
the Portsmouth Plan (2012). 

 
RECOMMENDATION  Conditional Permission 

 

Conditions 
 
Time limit 

13) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years from 
the date of this planning permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and to 
prevent an accumulation of unimplemented planning permissions given the limited supply of 
Council 'credits' forming the SPA mitigation. 

 
Approved plans 

14) Unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the permission hereby granted 
shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings - Drawing 
numbers: TQRQM19263144129894, TQRQM19263144030219, and PG.4108.19.1. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission 
granted. 

 
Cycle storage 

15) Prior to occupation as a C4 HMO, secure and weatherproof bicycle storage facilities for 2 
bicycles shall be provided at the site and shall thereafter be retained for the parking of 
bicycles at all times. 

 
Reason: To ensure that adequate provision is made for cyclists using the premises in 
accordance with policies PCS17 and PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan. 

 
PRO-ACTIVITY STATEMENT 
 
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework the City Council has worked 
positively and pro-actively with the applicant through the application process, and with the 
submission of amendments an acceptable proposal has been achieved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 48



35 

 

 

05     

19/01783/HOU      WARD:COPNOR 
 
3 BURCOTE DRIVE PORTSMOUTH PO3 5UD  
 
CONSTRUCTION OF SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION 
 
Application Submitted By: 
Miss Jenny Edwards 
 
RDD:    26th November 2019 
LDD:    3rd March 2020 
 
 
SUMMARY OF MAIN ISSUES  
 
This application is brought to the Planning Committee for determination due to the applicant 
being an employee of the Council.  
 
The main issues for consideration are:  

 Principle of the development  

 Design  

 Impact upon residential amenities  

 Flood Risk   
 
Site and Surrounding Area 
 
This application relates to a two-storey semi-detached property located on the south western 
side of Burcote Drive. The dwelling is set back from the road with a parking area forward of the 
dwelling with access to a detached garage. Existing building materials include facing brickwork 
and 'Double Roman Tudor' brown roof tiles.  The surrounding area is residential in nature and is 
characterised by properties of a similar size and design. The site is within the Indicative 
Floodplain in Flood Zone 3.  
 
Proposal 
 
Planning permission is sought for the construction of a single-storey side extension to enlarge 
an existing single-storey porch to the north elevation. The extension would measure 2.3 metres 
in width, 1.3 metres in depth and would be finished with a mono pitch roof to match the existing 
porch with a maximum height of 3.1 metres. Proposed building materials would include facing 
brickwork and roof tiles to match the existing. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
No relevant planning history  
 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The relevant policies within the Portsmouth Plan would include: 
PCS23 (Design and Conservation),  
 
In addition to the above policy, the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy 
framework (February 2019) are relevant. 
 

Page 49



36 

 

 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Contaminated Land Team - Given the limited scope of the works, a condition relating to land 
contamination is not required.  However, the developer should be made aware that the property 
is situated on the site of the former Portsmouth City Airport, which had a petroleum licence to 
store up to 4500 gallons of fuel somewhere on its site, and as such there is the potential for 
contamination to exist on that larger area. 
 
An informative should be added to any permission, advising the developer that they should 
contact this department if any unexpected materials or materials of concern are uncovered as 
part of the works for advice on the need for chemical testing and/or remedial measures to be 
incorporated into this development. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None received. 
 
 
COMMENT 
 
The main considerations in the determination of this application are;  
a) Whether the principle is acceptable in this location; 
b) Whether the development is appropriate in design terms;  
c) Whether there would be any significant adverse impact on residential amenity; and  
d) Flood Risk. 
 
Principle of development  
 
The application relates to an existing dwellinghouse, where extensions and alterations to such 
are considered acceptable in principle subject to relevant material considerations which will be 
discussed below. 
 
Design 
 
Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth plan states that all new development must be well designed 
and, in particular, respect the character of the city. 
 
The proposed extension would be constructed using materials to match the original 
dwellinghouse and would reflect the design of the existing porch. The modest extension is 
considered to be acceptable in design terms and the resultant enlarged porch feature would still 
appear subservient to the main dwelling. A planning condition is proposed to ensure the use of 
matching materials. 
 
With regards to impact on the character of the area, the extension would be visible from public 
viewpoints. However, there are a number of single-storey extensions and porch extensions 
within the immediate area, including that at No.37 Burcote Drive just to the north of the 
application site. It is therefore considered that the proposed development would not be out of 
keeping with the character of the surrounding area. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



37 

 

Amenity  
 
Policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan includes, amongst other things, that new development 
should ensure the protection of amenity and the provision of a good standard of living 
environment for neighbouring and local occupiers as well as future residents and users of the 
development. 
 
Given the modest size of the extension and the separation distance between the proposed 
development and neighbouring properties, it is not considered the development would have any 
significant adverse impact on neighbouring amenity.  
 
Flood Risk   
 
The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
states there is no requirement to consult The Environmental Agency for minor development 
within Flood Zone 2 or 3, however, paragraph 163 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019) states all applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment 
although in this instance a sequential or exception test is not required. The applicant has 
submitted a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) as part of this application. 
 
Having regard to the advice set out in the National Planning Practice Guidance, overall scale of 
the extension and information submitted in the FRA indicating that floor levels would be set no 
lower than existing, it is not considered that the proposal would result in any increased risk of 
flooding at the site or adjoining properties. 
 
Other Matters 
 
The Council's Contaminated Land department have been consulted on the application due to 
the application site being situated on the site of the former Portsmouth City Airport. Given the 
limited scope of the works a condition relating to land contamination is not required. However an 
informative is requested to be attached to any permission advising the developer that they 
should contact the Contaminated Land department if any unexpected materials or materials of 
concern are uncovered as part of the works.  
 
Conclusion 
 
For the reasons stated above, the proposed extension is considered to represent an acceptable 
level of development that would be in keeping with the existing building and would preserve the 
character of the wider area. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION  Conditional Permission 

 
 

Conditions 
 
 
 1)   Unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the permission hereby granted 
shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings - Drawing numbers: 
Location Plan; Block Plan; Existing and Proposed Floor Plans; Existing and Proposed 
Elevations.   
 
 2)   The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development 
hereby permitted shall match, in type, colour and texture those on the existing building. 
 
 
 

Page 51



38 

 

The reasons for the conditions are: 
 
1)   To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission granted. 
 
2)   In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policy PCS23 of the Portsmouth Plan. 
 
 
PRO-ACTIVITY STATEMENT 
 
Notwithstanding that the City Council seeks to work positively and pro-actively with the applicant 
through the application process in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, in 
this instance the proposal was considered acceptable and did not therefore require any further 
engagement with the applicant. 
 
NB This permission is granted in accordance with the provisions of Section 73A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, which makes provision for the retrospective granting of planning 
permission for development which has commenced and/or been completed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 52


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting - 19 February 2020
	5 19/00798/FUL -  42 Festing Grove, Southsea PO4 9QD  - Change of use from house in multiple occupation (Class C4) to a 7 bedroom house in multiple occupation (Sui Generis) (report item 1)

